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JOHNSON, Senior District Judge:

Doc. 98

99CV 3627(SJ)(RER)

ORDER ADOPTING

REPORTAND

RECOMMENDATION

The facts and circumstances surroundhmginstant petition (“Petition”) filed

by Yik Man Mui (“Mui” or “Petitioner”) are fully set forth in Magistrate Judge

Ramon E. Reyes’ March 1, 2012 Repartd &Recommendation Report”), and are
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incorporated herein by reference. Besmadamiliarity therewith is assumed, the

following is a relatively brief synopsis of the procedural posture of both this case and

the underlying criminal matter, styled United States v. Mui, 95 CR 766 (E.D.N.Y.
Filed Aug. 10, 1995).

On July 4, 1993, Tak Leung Chung, also known as Kenny Chung (“Chung”),
was found dead on Route 295 in Anneudel County, Maryland. He had been
beaten with a baseball bat, shot sevinats, and abandoned on #ide of the road.
Petitioner was arrested andached with nine counts: cgoisacy to interfere with
commerce by robbery, in violation of 183JC. § 1951; interference with commerce
by robbery, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 195&pnspiracy to traal in interstate
commerce in aid of racketeering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371, travel in interstate
commerce in aid of racketeering, inoldtion of 18 U.S.C. § 1952(a)(2)(B);
conspiracy to kidnap, in violation of 18S.C. 8 1959(a)(5); Bnapping, in violation
of 18 U.S.C. § 1959(a)(1); conspiracy taxauit murder, in vichtion of 18 U.S.C. §
1959(a)(5); murder, in violation of 18 UGS.8§ 1959(a)(1); andsing and carrying a
firearm in relation to a crime of violende, violation of 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1).

At trial, government witnesses testdi¢hat at the time of Chung’s murder,
Mui was the chairman of the Baltimore Lodge of the Hung Mun Chinese
Freemasons. Chung was known to be chedtiedodge, to the point the lodge once
closed early after running out of cash. @doperating witness, Ho Sui, testified that

he, Chung, and two others had beemating the lodge. Another government



witness, Kenny Chen (“Chen”), testified that Mui told him that Chung and others
were cheating the lodge. Chen recruitéidh Luong (“Luong”) and Ah Dai to assist

in kidnapping Chung and recouping Mui’'s less Luong testified that the group
received their orders from Mui and tra@élfrom New York to Maryland when Mui
announced that the Baltimore Lodge was ready to receive them. Mui was aware that
the kidnappers had a .9 millimeter handgun.

Chung arrived that night as expsdt and was kidnapgd, handcuffed,
stripped of the firearm he was carryimginched and hit with a baseball bat. Mui
was among those involved in the beating emygiired of Chung the identity of those
who assisted Chung in cheating. Chung agtedédke the kidnappers to New York
for the purpose of pointing obits cheating partners to them.

Mui called his co-defedant, Chin Yen Kwok (“Kwok”), who instructed
Chen to follow Mui’'s orders. The group léBaltimore with instructions to go to
New York. However, en route, the drivelopped the vehicle, telling to Luong to
“take care of” Chung, whereupon the driveuong and Ah Dai took turns shooting
Chung. Cellular telephone records confirmed communication between Chen, Mui
and the Baltimore Lodge.

When initially questioned by Lieutenant Kenneth Ward (“Ward”) of the
Maryland State Police, Mui denidchowing Chung, then admitted knowing Chung
and being present at the lodge on the niglihefmurder, then fled the interview on

foot.



On October 30, 1996, the jury returnedeadict of guilty onall counts. Mui
filed a motion for a new trial, alleging inefttive assistance of counsel on the part of
trial counsel, Jonathan Marks (“Marks”), who by then Mui replaced with new
counsel. The motion was denigdn April 10, 1997, Mui was sentenced to a term of
life imprisonment plus 60 months. dkect appeal followed, and on June 24, 2013,

the Second Circuit affrmed Mui’s conviech. See United States v. Mui, 159 F.3d

1349 (2d Cir. 1998).

On May 8, 1999, Mui filed the instapttition pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255
(“Section 2255”), alleging ineffective assiste of counsel on the part of both his
trial and appellate counsel, and claimititat he was deprived of an adequate
Cantonese interpreter at trial, constitgtwiolations of the Fifth Amendment’s Due
Process Clause and the Sixth Amendmenglstrio counsel. Some of the ineffective
assistance claims raised by Mui were alyeagjected on directppeal and were thus
deemed without merit in a February 9, 2005 omfethis Court. In the same order,
this Court determined that the remaindef Mui's claims were procedurally
defaulted because they had not beerecan direct appeal. A September 19, 2007
order of this Court denied M@’'motion for reconsideration.

Mui appealed both, and on JuB0, 2010, the Second Circuit Court of
Appeals remanded the action for consitlera of certain ineffective assistance

claims. Specifically, the Second Circtield that pursuant to Massaro v. United

States, 538 U.S. 500 (2003), ineffectiassistance of counsel claims can be



presented for the fitsime either at tb direct appeal leveor in a Section 2255
petition, and that a Sectid2255 petition raising ineffectes assistance of counsel
claims can follow a direct appeal raisindfelient ineffective asistance of counsel

claims. _See Mui v. United States, 614 F.3d 50 (2d Cir. 2010).

Therefore, presently before the Coare seven claims brought in Mui's
Section 2255 petition that were not amohgse ineffective assistance of counsel
claims brought on direct apgple Each of the claimswolves trial counsel. Mui
claims that Marks provided ineffective asarste because: (1) Marks failed to secure
a Cantonese interpreter atcbaof his meetings with Mui; (2) Marks failed to raise
with the District Court Mui's alleg® difficulty understanding proceedings; (3)
Marks did not examine certain evidence) Marks made false assertions in his
opening statement; (5) Marks failed to ingate any defense witnesses; (6) Marks
failed to raise jurisdictional challenges; and (7) Marks failed to file motions related
to exculpatory evidence.

| referred the Petition to Judge Reyes, whereupon the following
communications brought to lighgn eighth claim: JudgReyes ordered Marks to
submit an affidavit addressing the isswgsremand, which Marks did on May 20,
2011 (the “Marks Affidavit” orthe “Affidavit”). Among other things, Marks wrote:
“This is a very troubling case. Mr. Mui was offered a plea that would have exposed
him to no more than five years in prison. | urged him to accept the offer, but he

rejected my advice and went to trial. He was sentenced to life, which is an



exceedingly harsh sentence for his tangential involvement in Kenny Chung’'s
murder.”

On June 20, 2011, Mui submitted a response to the Marks Affidavit. Mui
indicated that until he read the Marks Affiita he was unaware of a five year plea
offer. Mui moved to supplement his Petitiwith a claim that Marks was ineffective
for failing to advise him of th existence of this deal, alleging that had he been aware
of it, he would have acceptedrather than risk the chaa of a life sentence after
trial.

Judge Reyes determined that a hepwas necessary and appointed counsel
for Mui. Prior to the hearing, Marks submitted a letter (thettdr®) to the court
purporting to correct statements in his Affitta In the Letter, Marks stated that
“[o]n further reflection,” the government tianot offered Mui a five year deal.
Marks explained that his prior statemewvas influenced by a recent conversation
Marks had with Lawrence Frost (“Frost”), avestigator who wiked for Marks on
Mui’'s case. Marks claimed to have “confldterhat Larry Frost td [him] . . . with
[his] own independent recollection.” In tkad, all Marks was certain of was that he
generally encouraged Mui to plead rather than go to trial and that those efforts were
rebuffed by Mui.

Judge Reyes held a hearing on September 26, 2011, which was continued to
October 31, 2011. At the hearing, he tookitesny of five witnesses: Mui, Marks,

Frost, Harold Pokel (“Pokel”), the attay who represented co-defendant Kwok at



trial, and former Assistant United Sta#&torney John Curran (“Curran”), who tried
the case against Mui and Kwok.

On March 1, 2012, Judge Reyes issued the Report in which he recommended
denying the Petition in full. Judge Reyes determined that Mui failed to establish the
existence of a five year plea deal, agaage barrier between him and Marks or
between him and the court interpreteraoy unreasonable conduct by Marks. On
May 30, 2012, Mui, through counsel, filed objections to certain conclusions of law
made in the Report. Mui's argumentgds on three issues: (1) whether Mui could
communicate with Marks and understand court proceedings; (2) whether Marks

properly prepared for trial; and (3) efher a five year plea deal existed.

l. Access to Cantonese Interpreter

Mui alleges that he received ineffiwet assistance of counsel because Marks
conducted meetings with him without thel af a Cantonese interpreter and because
Marks did not raise with the Court V& alleged difficulty understanding the

Cantonese interpreter who svaresent at trial.

A. Availability of Interpreters at Pre-Trial Meetings

! Mui’'s objections do not purport to challenge the remaining recommendations. Therefore,
Mui has waived any right to review of Judgeyes’ findings that Marks did not make false
statements in his opening statement, was not constitutionally ineffective for conceding that
Mui ran a gambling operation that Chung cledatand was not constitutionally ineffective

for failing to contest venue. Thomas Atn, 474 U.S.140, 147-8 (1985); Mario v. P&C
Food Markets, Inc., 313 F.3d 758, 766 (2d Cir. 2002). Those findings are adopted.
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None of the witnesses were ablepimvide a specific number of pre-trial
meetings between Marks and MuHowever, Mui testified that he met with Marks
five or six times in the year prior to trial, which is a figure consistent with the Marks
Affidavit. At the time of the mdengs, Marks employed a native Cantonese-
speaking paralegal, Philene Kwan (“Kwan”), who Marks claims was present at most
meetings and interpreted for Mui. Additionally, both Marks and Frost testified that
the woman who referred Mui to Marks, An€han (“*Chan”), also spoke Cantonese,
and attended “several” meetings with Frddarks and Mui. Marks also testified
that he could recall only one meeting withui at which an interpreter was not
present. On the other hand, Mui testlfithat only twice di Marks provide an
interpreter.

The parties dispute not only the numbémeetings at which an interpreter
was present but Mui’s facilitwith the English language. Mui claims that at the time
of the events alleged in the Petition kew “merely the basics of English, i.e.,
hello, goodbye, etc.,” having come to theitdd States fromHong Kong in 1975 at
the age of 15. Mui briefly attended higichool in New York, and claims that
English language limitationked to him having trouble ére. Mui dropped out of
high school at 17, moved to Baltimore anohgm the Hung Mun. His only work had
been in Chinese restaurants. Marks iglthat Mui “had a gb-standard mastery”
of English. However, Marks testified that Mui was not so impaired as to make

communication difficult without an interpreteEpecifically, Marks testified that it is



his belief that he and Muvere able to communicatgithout difficulties. Marks
recalled speaking to Mui in English withoaid of Kwan, even in Kwan’s presence.
In addition to not recalling any problemsmmunicating with Mui, Marks recalled
cross-examining Lieutenant Ward aboMard’s conversation with Mui in which
Mui allegedly lied about knowing Chung. Marktated “Had | been unable to speak

with Mr. Mui in English, | would haveross-examined Lt. Ward on this point.”

B. Court Interpreters

Mui also complains that he did nohderstand the Cantonese interpreter at
trial, who Mui claims spoke with what w&s him an unintelligibleMandarin accent.
However, no objection was made a tridllui claims that Marks is to blame for
failing to raise the issue, while Marks does not recall Mui apprising him of any
problem with the court interpreter, and sththat his normal préce if a client does

not understand the court peedings would be to make a record of the i$sue.

. Pre-Trial Preparation

Mui argues that Marks failed to adequately prepare for trial in a variety of
ways. Mui claims that Marks did not examine certain evidence and investigate
certain witnesses, and that Marks failed to file motions to preserve or disclose

exculpatory evidence. Specifically, Mui ¢fas that “a Malt 45 can that was directly

2 Mui's co-defendant, on the other hand, did object at trial to the quality of the translations
provided by the Court interpreter. SpecifigaKwok complained that the interpreter was
only translating a portion of the testimony. Mui did not join in on this objection.

9



beneath the victim along with two contaiseof fresh oriental food” constituted
“critical evidence” about which Marks ifad to cross-examine a government's
witness. Mui also argues that Marks’ failure to seek disclosure of certain “rough
notes” taken by the government’s inveatmy witnesses constituted ineffective
assistance of counsel because “[h]ad couhadlthe rough notes . . . he would or
should have known beyond a reasonable degreertdinty that no investigation was
thorough by the investading agents.”

In response, Marks stated in his ddivit that he coul not independently
recall examining the physical evidencet Hacated a letter he sent to Mui on
December 14, 1998 indicating tredl of the physical evidence was reviewed. Marks
also stated that while he could not rédali telling him about potential character
witnesses, it is unlikely those witnesseswd have been called to the stand because
their testimony would open the door to ass examination in wth the government
could summarize the evidence against MMarks did not dispute his failure to seek

L1}

out the government investigators’ “rough notes.”

1. Availability of a Five-Year Plea Deal

Mui claims that Judge Reyes erredconcluding that there was no five year
plea offer. In support, Mui relies on tlkenguage barrier he claims existed between
him and Marks. Mui also points to thereeted statement in the Marks Affidavit

and to both the testimony of Marks and Ere#o recalled trying to persuade Mui to

10



plead. According to Mui, if Marks and Frost recall discussing a plea with him,
“there must have been a plea . . . to plegiand “[a]ny plea wuld have been less

than the life sentend®ui] is serving.”

DISCUSSION

In Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.668, 688 (1984), the Supreme Court

established a two-part testdetermine whether counsel's assistance was ineffective.
First, “the defendant must show that caelissrepresentation fell below an objective
standard of reasonableness.” Stackl, 466 U.S. at 688. When evaluating
counsel’'s performance, courts give defiee to the attorneysince it is all too
tempting for a defendant to second-guessnsel’s assistance after conviction. To
fairly assess an attorney’s performance, courts eliminate the effect of hindsight by
reconstructing the circumstances of coussebnduct from counsel’'s perspective.
Thus, to meet the first prong of the Skitand test, Petitioner must overcome the

strong presumption that the challengaction was sound tiisstrategy under the

circumstances at the time. See id. at 689.

Second, the defendant must show tt@insel’'s performance prejudiced his
defense._See id. at 692. To show prigeadthere must be a reasonable probability
that, but for counsel's unprofessional errdre result of the proceeding would have
been different._See id. at 694. Thus, pledéitioner must demonstrate that counsel

failed to raise significant and obvious issulkat if raised, would likely have been

11



successful._See Mayo v. HendersonF13d 528, 533—-34 (2d Cir. 1994). Because a

convicted defendant will always havestong incentive to make a prejudice claim
after conviction, courts are eftical of “self-seving, post-conviction testimony” that
but for counsel's bad advice, the defendant would have pled guilty or gone to trial.

See Purdy v. Zeldes, 337 F.3d 253, 259 @d 2003) (in addressing prejudice

showing required on ineffége assistance claim, cdunoted that “a convicted
felon’s self-serving testimony %ot likely to be credible”) A defendant must meet
both prongs to prove that the convictiosuked from a breakdawin the adversary

process._See Keiser v. NewrKp56 F.3d 16, 18 (2d Cir. 1995).

l. Language Barrier

Several of Petitioner's complaintseapremised upon the alleged language
barrier between him and the Court and between him and his defense team. He
claims Marks provided inedttive assistance of counsel because Marks conducted
meetings with him without an interpretdvlarks failed to bing to light Mui's
problems understanding the court’s ltrienterpreter, and Marks failed to
communicate a plea offer to him. Howevian, the following reasons, Mui has not
established by a preponderance of theexwi@ that any such barrier existed.

Neither Mui’'s testimony nor the statements he has made in support of the
Petition are credible. He died making statements dinted to him in his Pre-

Sentence Investigation Report (“PSRQlaiming he never told the Probation

12



Department that he had 10 years of fafreducation in Hong Kong or that he
learned English on the streets of HoHgng, while the PSR attributes those
statements to him. Mui also claimed have difficulty undestanding the Court’s
interpreter at trial, because she allegedly spoke Cantonese with a Mandarin accent.
However, no such objection was made &l tmor did Mui avail himself of the
opportunity to join in on awbjection made by Kwok théhe court’s interpreter was
translating only portions of the proceegs. Furthermore, on January 13, 1997, Mui
submitted an affidavit in support of his tiam for a new trial in which he stated,
inter alia, that “[d]uring thelirect examination of Kenny @, | realized that Chen’s
testimony . . . did not make sense.” iMuaffidavit went on to summarize both
Marks’ cross-examination d€hen (including what Maskdid and did not elicit on
cross-examination) and Marks’ summation. To make these statements, Mui would
have had to comprehend the proceedings.

Mui then testified that #re was no interpter present for his sentencing, a
statement that is simply untrue. Aftéhe hearing before Judge Reyes, Mui
submitted a letter claiming that he was petjuring himself when he said there was
no interpreter at sentencing, but rather e@asfused. Specifically, counsel for Mui,
at Mui’s request, wrote: “When questiahdne believed he wdmeing asked whether
Mr. Goldberger, [his counsel at sentencibgpught an interpter to sentencing, as

opposed to the Court providing an interpréteAs the following exchange (taken

13



from the October 31, 2011 hearing befouelge Reyes) demonstrates, even that is

not true:

AUSA: Mr. Goldberger said at semicing that the only statement . . .
[he] wish[es] to make is that “MMui continues to assert that
he is innocent of the charges, that he is not guilty of any of the
crimes for which he has been convicted and he has the intent
to pursue his remedy?”

Mui: | don’t know what he said tthe judge at the time. There was
no interpreter present.

AUSA: There was no interpier at your sentencing?

Mui: No.

Mui’'s response does not indicate that tedieved he was bey asked about the
source of the interpreter.

Mui also testifiedhat Marks never discussed the government’s evidence with
him. However, in his 1997 affidavit, lescribes a meeting with Marks that took
place at the Metropolitan Detention Center (“MDC”) on the weekend following the
end of the government’s case. Mui wrote:

Again | tried to explain the importaa of the cellular phone records and
urged him to use them as part of oufethse. | also restated my intent to
testify.

Mr. Marks, however, seemed distractelde kept insisting that | should not
testify because the case looked very bid. said my testimony would insure
[sic] a conviction since | would have ammit several of # crimes charged,
which was not true. In any event, Mdarks had already told the jury that |
was, in effect, guilty of several athe crimes charged in his opening
statement. He also said the prosecwvould vigorously cross-examine me
about a variety of matters includirrg1992 credit card fraud charge against
me, which | later learned would not nesarily be allowed. | was totally
confused when Mr. Marks left our meeting.

14



While Mui claims to have been cased, he makes nary a mention of
communication difficulties between him and Mswrk What he does is complain that
Marks was wrong about the scope of the gonent’'s would-be cross-examination,
Marks ought to have permitted him to testify, and Marks ought to have cross-
examined Chen differently — issues thatand Marks discussed and on which they
disagreed. It is especially noteworthy that Ma& made this trip to MDC without an
interpreter.

These inconsistencies undercut Mui’'s claim that without an interpreter he
was unable to communicate witlarks and it also indicates that, contrary to Mui’s
testimony, he did discuss the government’s evod with Marks. _See, e.g., Castillo

v. United States, No. 07 CV 2976 (KMW), 2010 WL 3912788, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Sept.

8, 2010) (dismissing petition where recorambamstrated that petitioner “possess|ed]
an understanding of English sufficient comprehend the proceedings”); Elize v.
United States, No. 12 CV 1350 (NGG), 2008 WL 4425286, at *7 (E.D.N.Y. Sept.
30, 2008) (“When a defendant is clearly able to communicate in a given language, he
cannot sustain claims protesting thas tiial was unfair because of a language
barrier.”).

Mui also claims that a five year pleieal existed and that Marks failed to

properly communicate it to him. However, Mui's only evidence is the statement in

% Incidentally, on appeal, Mui based his irefive assistance of counsel arguments on these
disagreements with Marks. The Second Cimmjécted Mui’s claims.United States v. Mui,
159 F.3d 1349 (2d Cir. 1998).
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the Marks Affidavit that Marks has sincecanted. At the heag, Marks testified
that at the time he wrote the affidavitg was focused on accurately answering the
Court’s questions about the claims mad#aPetition, which itself he considered to
be difficult given the age dhe case. Marks testified thiaé spoke with Frost prior

to preparing the Affidavit and that Frogtcalled a five year deal. Marks claims he
did not realize that he had no independectliection of the five year deal until after
Mui raised it as a basis for finding Marksffective as counsel. Upon a subsequent
discussion with Frost, Marks claims that tealized his mistake.Yes, it is true,
Marks claims, he tried to convince Muia&acept a plea, but treewvas not actually a
plea offer pending. Instead, Marks claims that he sought to gauge Mui’'s amenability
to a plea as a general matter, and k&umained adamantly opposed to pleading no
matter the would-be offer suggested by Marks.

While Marks’ version of events is netithout drawbacksthere is greater
support in the record for higeollection of events than Msl' Frost testified that he
recalled being upset about Msiiinsistence on going to trial. He also remembered
Marks being upset for the same reason. Frost recalled Marks unsuccessfully trying
to convince Mui that a plea of “a singlegdinumber below ten years,” but Frost was
not privy to any communications with tgevernment and could not say whether any
plea existed at all.

Pokel also recalled Marks being dismayed at his failure to convince Mui to

consider a plea. While Pokel “seem[ed] to remember five years,” he was not certain

16



and in any event was “completely cleaattfiMarks] would haveonveyed it to his
client” because Marks “was certainly thand of lawyer.” Fnally, Pokel recalled
“strongly” feeling that AUSA Curran wantetb try the case, and not have the
defendants plead to fewer charges.

AUSA Curran testified that because thlkeged plea discussions would have
been close in time to the trial, the onlyadl he would have been empowered to offer
Mui would have been to the top counttire indictment, i.e., murder, which would
have led to a sentence far in excess of ywars. Curran also testified that anything
more favorable than a plea to the tapuet would have had to be approved by a
supervisor, and he had no recdliec of seeking that approval.

Therefore, Mui has not established ttiedre was either a five year plea deal,
or any plea deal that Marks failed to offem. At best, he gues that Marks failed
to bring an interpreter to the meetings which the topic was raised. However,
Mui’s lack of credibility ago the existence of a langualgarrier also weighs against
a claim that he didn’t understand Markghie discussions thdyad about pleading.

Judge Reyes’ finding that Mui’s clainae not credible ikereby adopted.
This finding renders untenable Mui's akion that he failed to comprehend the
proceedings, as well as his claim tha could not comprehend his lawyer.
Therefore, Mui's claim that Marks was ffective for failing to question the quality
of the Court interpreter, failing to provide Cantonese interpreter at each of their

meetings, and failing to discuss algguplea with him are without merit.
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. Examination of Evidence

Mui claims that Marks failed to exane the “Malt 45” and “fresh oriental
food” found near Chung, but fails to offany support for his claim that these were
“critical” pieces of evidence. Mui alsoatins that Marks should have investigated
the circumstances surrounding the photograph#lui introduced at trial, which
were offered to show Mui’'s associatiornithvNew York members of the Hung Mun.
However, Marks reported to Mui on December 14, 1998 that he viewed all of the
physical evidence prior toi&l, and Marks testified #t he also reviewed the
documentary discovery and 3500teTéals prior to trial.

There is not a “particular sef detailed rules foraunsel's conduct. . . . Any
such set of rules would interfere withethonstitutionally protected independence of
counsel and restrict the wide latitude counsel must have in making tactical
decisions.”_Strickland, 466 8. at 689. “[S]trategic choices made after thorough
investigation of law and facts relevarib plausible options are virtually
unchallengeable.”_Id. at 690-91. This Gadopts Judge Reyes’ credibility finding
as to Marks’ testimony andnfils that Mui has failed tprove that Marks failed to
examine the evidence. Just becausekMalid not pursuea strategy Mui now
believes might have been successful dogismean that Marks was ineffective or
that his decisions were anything othéwan tactical. Therefore, the Report’s

conclusion that Marks did not fail to examine evidence is adopted.
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. Failure to Call Withesses

Similarly, Mui’s claim that Marks wasonstitutionally ineffective for failing
to call certain defense witnesses is bare, conclusory, and insufficient as a matter of
law.

In order to prevail on a &im of ineffective assiahce of counsel based on a
lawyer’s failure to call certain withesséte petitioner must establish what
these . . . witnesses would have testified and, equally as iportant, that they

would in fact have testified.” Carnkm v. United States, No. 03 CV 6388 (ADS)

(ARL) 2006 WL 148908, at *4 (E.D.N.Y. Jah8, 2006) (citing McCarthy v. United

States, No. 02 CV 9082 (LAK)2004 WL 136371 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 23, 2004),

Venkataram v. United States, No. CV 6503 (RPP), 208 WL 5298461, at *8
(S.D.N.Y. Sept. 20, 2013) (dismissing ineffeetassistance of counsel claim where
“there has been no evidence, beyondtifner’s] speculation, that [an uncalled
witness’] testimony would have impacted fjpeter’s] sentence or been helpful to
[petitioner] in any way”). Mui has neither shown that the would-be witnesses would
have actually testified nor provided any evidence as to what the testimony would
have been.

Without that much, Marks’ decision nat call these witnesses is afforded

tremendous deference. See, e.g., Unitades v. Best, 219.3d 192, 201 (2d Cir.

2000) (“[C]ounsel’s decision as to whetherctdl specific withesses — even ones that

might offer exculpatory evidence — is ordimanot viewed as &pse in professional
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representation.”). Marks stated thateitlier or not Mui toldhim about potential
character witnesses, Marks would not likélgve called them to testify because it
would have provided the government with an opportunity to summarize the evidence

against him._See, e.q., United State8Valker, 24 Fed. Appx. 57, 60 (2d Cir. 2001)

(“[T]rial counsel’s strategic decision to try to maintain credibility with the jury could
hardly be considered ineffective assistaaoteounsel.”) (citation®mitted); see also

United States v. Smith, 198 F.3d 377, 386 (2d Cir. 1999) (“The decision whether to

call any witnesses on behalf of the defendard if so, which witnesses to call, is a
tactical decision of the sort engaged indsfense attorneys in almost every trial”
and “cannot form the basis of a meritoriansffective assistare claim.”); United

States ex rel Walker v. Henderset92 F.2d 1311, 1314 (2d Cir. 1974) (“[T]he

decision to call or bypass particular witnesses is peculiarly a question of trial strategy
.. . which courts will practically mer second-guess.”) (citation omitted).

Therefore, this claim is without merit.

V. Pre-Trial Motions

Likewise, Mui cannot maintain an ifiective assistance of counsel claim
based on Marks’ failure taequest copies of the invasdtor’s “rough notes” because
Mui has not demonstrated that the motiwauld have been granted and that any
evidence gleaned from such notes would haltered the outcome of his trial. See

United States v. Martinez, 101 F.3d 684 (2d €896) (“In order fo [petitioner] to
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be successful . . . he must show that.the motion would have been meritorious if

filed.”); see _also Paez v. United Siat 2012 WL 1574826, at * 2 (S.D.N.Y. May 3,

2012) (denying ineffective assistance agfunsel claim where petitioner failed to
suggest “any plausible argemt that a motion to supgss evidence would have
affected the outcome at tfjp Therefore, the Couradopts Judge Reyes’ finding
that Mui did not suffer ineffective assistarafecounsel for Marks’ failure to request

those notes.

CONCLUSION

After careful review of the recor@cluding Mui's habeas submissions (both
pro se and through counsel), the MarkH8idavit and Letter, the government’'s
submissions, the trial transcripts, Maiimotion for a new trial (and supporting
documentation), the sentencing transcriptsl transcripts of the hearing before
Judge Reyes, the Court finds that JudRpyes carefully determined that Marks’
representation was neitheorstitutionally deficient nor did it prejudice Mui.
Therefore, the findings in Rert are adopted in their entirety. Because Mui has not
made a substantial showing of the denial of a constitutional right, a certificate of
appealability will notissue. _See 28 U.S.C. § 2253ddkionally, the Court certifies
that any appeal from this Order would r taken in good faith, as Mui’s claims

lack any arguable basis in law or fact, and therefore in forma pauperis is also denied.

See 28 U.S.C. § 1915(a)(3); Martin v. Dst.Columbia Court of Appeals, 506 U.S.
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1, 3 (1992) (“Every paper filed with the Cheof this Court, no matter how repetitive
or frivolous, requires some portion of thestitution’s limited rsources. A part of
the Court’s responsibility iso see that these resouraae allocated in a way that

promotes the interest of justice.”).

The Clerk of the Court idirected to close the case.

SO ORDERED.
DATED: December 5, 2013 Is
Brooklyn, New York Sterling Johnson, Jr, U.S.D.J.
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